Continuing education meetings and workshops: effects on professional practice and health care outcomes (Review)

O'Brien MA, Freemantle N, Oxman AD, Wolfe F, Davis D, Herrin J



This is a reprint of a Cochrane review, prepared and maintained by The Cochrane Collaboration and published in *The Cochrane Library* 2009, Issue 1

http://www.thecochranelibrary.com



TABLE OF CONTENTS

HEADER	1
ABSTRACT	1
PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY	2
BACKGROUND	3
OBJECTIVES	3
METHODS	3
RESULTS	11
DISCUSSION	18
AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS	18
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	19
REFERENCES	19
CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES	22
DATA AND ANALYSES	44
FEEDBACK	44
WHAT'S NEW	44
HISTORY	44
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	44
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST	45
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	45
INDEX TERMS	45

[Intervention Review]

Continuing education meetings and workshops: effects on professional practice and health care outcomes

Mary Ann O'Brien¹, Nick Freemantle², Andrew D Oxman³, Frederick Wolfe⁴, Dave Davis⁵, Jeph Herrin⁶

¹Supportive Cancer Care Research Unit, Juravinski Cancer Centre, Hamilton, Canada. ²Department of Primary Care and General Practice, University of Birmingham, Birmingham, UK. ³Norwegian Knowledge Centre for Health Services, Oslo, Norway. ⁴Medical education and biomedical informatics, University of Washington, Seattle, USA. ⁵Continuing Health Care Education and Improvement, Association of American Medical Colleges, Washington, USA. ⁶Charlottesville, USA

Contact address: Mary Ann O'Brien, Supportive Cancer Care Research Unit, Juravinski Cancer Centre, 699 Concession Street, Hamilton, Ontario, L8V 5C2, Canada. maryann.o'brien@jcc.hhsc.ca. (Editorial group: Cochrane Effective Practice and Organisation of Care Group.)

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, Issue 1, 2009 (Status in this issue: Edited, commented) Copyright © 2009 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD003030

This version first published online: 22 January 2001 in Issue 1, 2001. Re-published online with edits: 21 January 2009 in Issue 1, 2009.

Last assessed as up-to-date: 8 November 2000. (Help document - Dates and Statuses explained)

This record should be cited as: O'Brien MA, Freemantle N, Oxman AD, Wolfe F, Davis D, Herrin J. Continuing education meetings and workshops: effects on professional practice and health care outcomes. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2001, Issue 1. Art. No.: CD003030. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD003030.

ABSTRACT

Background

Educational meetings and printed educational materials are the two most common types of continuing education for health professionals. An important aim of continuing education is to improve professional practice so that patients can receive improved health care.

Objectives

To assess the effects of educational meetings on professional practice and health care outcomes.

Search strategy

We searched the Cochrane Effective Practice and Organisation of Care Group specialised register, MEDLINE (from 1966), the Research and Development Resource Base in Continuing Medical Education in January 1999 and reference lists of articles.

Selection criteria

Randomised trials or well designed quasi-experimental studies examining the effect of continuing education meetings (including lectures, workshops, and courses) on the clinical practice of health professionals or health care outcomes.

Data collection and analysis

Two reviewers independently applied inclusion criteria, assessed the quality of each study, and extracted study data. We attempted to collect missing data from investigators. We conducted both qualitative and quantitative analyses.

Main results

Thirty-two studies were included with a total of 36 comparisons. The studies involved from 13 to 411 health professionals (total N= 2995) and were judged to be of moderate or high quality, although methods were generally poorly reported. There was substantial

variation in the complexity of the targeted behaviours, baseline compliance, the characteristics of the interventions and the results. The heterogeneity of the results was best explained by differences in the interventions. For 10 comparisons of interactive workshops, there were moderate or moderately large effects in six (all of which were statistically significant) and small effects in four (one of which was statistically significant). For interventions that combined workshops and didactic presentations, there were moderate or moderately large effects in 12 comparisons (eleven of which were statistically significant) and small effects in seven comparisons (one of which was statistically significant). In seven comparisons of didactic presentations, there were no statistically significant effects, with the exception of one out of four outcome measures in one study.

Authors' conclusions

Interactive workshops can result in moderately large changes in professional practice. Didactic sessions alone are unlikely to change professional practice.

PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY

Interactive educational workshops can result in moderately large changes in professional practice

Educational meetings are one of the most common types of continuing education for health professionals, and an important aim of continuing education is to influence professional practice. This review looked at whether educational meetings and workshops aimed at qualified health professionals were effective in improving professional practice or health care outcomes. The following types of planned educational activities were included: meetings, conferences, lectures, workshops, seminars, symposia and courses that occurred off-site from the practice setting. The review found that interactive workshops could result in moderately large changes in professional practice. Lectures or presentations alone were unlikely to change professional practice.

BACKGROUND

Nearly all health professionals attend educational meetings, such as lectures and workshops and, on average, health professionals spend a total of from one to three weeks per year at educational meetings (Frank 2000; Lecoq-d'Andre 1999; Goulet 1998; Nylenna 2000; Turner 1991; Rothenberg 1982). Indeed, for many health professionals, educational meetings are a compulsory component of continuing education and continuing professional development (Peck 2000; Frank 2000). The amount of continuing education time spent at educational meetings is second only to the amount of time spent reading, by self-report (Frank 2000; Goulet 1998; Rothenberg 1982). The amount of resources expended on continuing education meetings for heath professionals is difficult to estimate, but the opportunity costs alone are substantial.

Yet, the effects of each of these activities alone to change professional practice and health care outcomes has been questioned (EBHC 1999; Davis 1995). Although educational meetings may have other benefits such as increased knowledge of appropriate therapy and might contribute to improvements in patient care when combined with other interventions, it is uncertain whether the benefits are worth the costs. Moreover, many educational meetings are organised by the pharmaceutical industry and have a promotional aspect as well as an educational aspect. However, in one survey of general practitioners, it was found that 60% of those who participated in meetings organised by pharmaceutical companies thought them to be of little educational value (Hayes 1990). This raises additional questions about why health professionals attend educational meetings and whether attendance is motivated by other factors.

The nature of continuing education meetings is highly variable in terms of content, the number of participants, the degree and type of interaction, length and frequency. In this review, we examine the effects of continuing education meetings on professional practice. An earlier version of this review has been published previously (Davis 1999). In this update, we have provided more details regarding the included studies and our methods, examined possible factors that might explain variation in the effectiveness of educational meetings more systematically, and included studies targeted at other health professionals in addition to physicians.

OBJECTIVES

This review addresses the following question:

Are educational meetings and workshops effective in improving professionals' practice or health care outcomes?

Comparisons

1. Educational meetings with or without educational materials compared with no intervention/usual care;

2. Educational meetings that use interactive components compared with those that are lecture based;

3. Small group educational meetings compared with large group educational meetings;

 Educational meetings that include a preceptorship or traineeship with opportunity to practice skills compared with educational meetings alone;

5. Educational meetings that include a local consensus process compared with educational meetings alone.

METHODS

Criteria for considering studies for this review

Types of studies

We included randomised controlled trials (RCTs). We included non-equivalent group designs (NEGD) in which allocation to group was by a non-random process other than participant choice, if data collection was contemporaneous, and the choice of control site/activity appeared appropriate (Cook 1979).

Types of participants

We included studies that evaluated the participation of qualified health professionals or health professionals in post-graduate training (e.g. resident physicians). We excluded studies involving only undergraduate students.

Types of interventions

We included the following types of planned educational activities: meetings, conferences, lectures, workshops, seminars, symposia and courses that occurred off-site from the practice setting. We defined didactic sessions as those that were predominantly lectures or presentations but may have included question and answer periods. Interactive workshops and seminars were defined as sessions that involved some type of interaction amongst participants in small (< 10 participants), moderate (10-19 participants), or large (>19 participants) groups. The interaction may have included role-play, case discussion, or opportunity to practise skills. Mixed sessions included both didactic and interactive components.

Types of outcome measures

We only included studies that reported objectively measured health professional practice behaviour or patient outcomes in a setting where health care was provided.

Search methods for identification of studies

This review builds upon previous work in this area (Davis 1992; Davis 1995; Oxman 1995; Davis 1999). We searched the specialised register of the Cochrane Effective Practice and Organisation of Care (EPOC) Group (see EPOC SEARCH STRAT-EGY under SPECIALISED REGISTER in GROUP DETAILS),

MEDLINE (1966 to January 1999) without language restrictions, and the Research and Development Resource Base in Continuing Medical Education (RDRB/CME) (Davis 1991). The reference lists of related systematic reviews and all articles obtained were reviewed. The terms for the MEDLINE search follow: education/; exp education,continuing/; exp education,graduate/; internship and residency/; exp inservice training/; preceptorship/; exp teaching/. The educational terms were combined with methodological terms.

Data collection and analysis

Since the protocol was first published, we have reassessed our methods and made substantial changes to them, specifically in the analysis. Two reviewers (MAO and NF/DAD) independently applied inclusion criteria, assessed the quality of each study, and extracted data. The quality of all eligible studies was assessed using criteria described in the EPOC module (see ADDITIONAL INFOR-MATION, ASSESSMENT OF METHODOLOGICAL QUAL-ITY under GROUP DETAILS) and discrepancies were resolved by discussion between the two reviewers. Each study was then assigned a quality rating (high, moderate, low protection against bias) based on three criteria: study design (RCT versus NEGD), blinded outcome assessment, and completeness of follow-up. We assigned a rating of 'high' protection against bias if all three criteria were scored as 'done', 'moderate' protection if one or two criteria were scored as 'not clear' (or one scored 'not clear' and one scored 'not done'), and 'low' if two or three were scored as 'not done'. We also categorised the type of intervention, the complexity of the targeted behaviour, and the level of baseline compliance. The type of intervention was categorised as didactic, interactive, or mixed (see criteria for selecting studies for this review). The complexity of the targeted behaviour was categorised in a subjective manner by one of us (MAO) as high, moderate or low depending upon the number of behaviours to be altered and whether other factors such as organisational change were required for the behaviour to be improved. For example, the behaviours in the study by Westphal (Westphal 1995) were categorised as high complexity because hospital policies needed to be changed. Baseline compliance with the targeted behaviours was also categorised in a subjective manner by MAO.

Analysis

For each study, we recorded the main results in natural units (for example, mean prescribing rate per physician). For each outcome, we calculated either absolute or relative post-intervention differences and, where possible, 95% confidence limits. The relative post-intervention difference was used because it could be calculated even when variance estimates were missing. One of its limitations is that it is highly influenced by baseline performance in the control group unless the results have been adjusted using an analysis of covariance. We then reported the size of the effect on a scale from a moderately large effect to a negative effect (Table 1). We used symbols to distinguish statistically significant (X) from non significant results (0). We also indicated when there was a potential unit of analysis error in the primary study (#).

Effect Score	Absolute*	Relative**		
Moderately Large	> 20%	>30%		
Moderate	11-20%	21-30%		
Small	1-10%	2-20%		
Negative difference in favour of the control group				

Table 1. Classification of Effect Scores

The following symbols were used: X = significant effect in favour of the experimental group; 0 = non significant effect in favour of the experimental group; # = unit of analysis error

*The post-intervention difference in compliance for targeted behaviours between the experimental and control groups

**The post-intervention difference in compliance for the targeted behaviours between the experimental and control groups divided by the (post-intervention) compliance for the control group.

See Table 1: Classification of effect scores.

When several major outcomes were reported with different effect scores, a range was reported in the Characteristics of included studies. When a significant difference was reported for only one

of several outcome measures, this was reported as an overall small effect score. When relevant data were missing from published reports, we wrote to the corresponding author. Estimates of standard error for individual studies were derived from reported data or from the corresponding authors (two studies) (Browner 1994; Sulmasy 1992a; Sulmasy 1992b).

Potential causes of heterogeneity identified a priori as most likely to explain variation in the results of the included studies were study quality (high, moderate or low protection against bias), the type of educational activity (didactic sessions, mixed or interactive workshops), the complexity of the targeted behaviours (high, moderate or low) and the level of baseline compliance for the targeted behaviour (high, moderate or low). Initially, we anticipated that the type of health professional might be a potential explanatory variable but there were too few studies of health professionals other than physicians or physicians in training. We undertook explanatory analyses to explore the influences of these factors. We visually explored heterogeneity by preparing tables and scatter plots that grouped studies relative to each of these variables in relationship to the relative effect scores (presented as figures within the text of the review, additional information is provided in Table 2: Main Results). Each study was characterised relative to the other variables in the tables, but these visual analyses were primarily univariate, looking at one potential explanatory variable at a time. We looked for patterns in the distribution of the studies, hypothesising that larger effects would be associated with lower study quality, more interaction, less complexity of the targeted behaviour and lower baseline compliance.

Table 2. Overall Results

Study	Protection Against B	Behaviour- Complexity	Baseline Com- pliance	Intervention Type	Outcomes	Effects
Browner 1994 USA	High	High	Low	didactic	cholesterol screening and compliance with guidelines mea- sured up to 18 months post-in- tervention	Small negative (relative); p>0.25
Angunawela 1991 Sri Lanka	High	Low	Low	didactic	antibiotic prescribing mea- sured up to three months post-in- tervention	Small (relative); p>0.5
Sulmasy 1992 (brief) USA	Moderate	High	Low	didactic	care for patients with 'do not re- suscitate' orders (4 variables)	Small (rela- tive) (authors re- ported NS for all four vari- ables. There was a large relative

Table 2.	Overall Results	(Continued)
----------	------------------------	-------------

						difference (40%) in one variable.
Wirtschafter 1986 USA	Moderate	Low-moderate	Not clear	didactic	care provided for neonates neona- tal mortality out- comes measured up to 1 year post- intervention	Small (absolute); Patient out- come: small neg- ative (absolute); authors report NS for both out- comes; unit of analysis error
Boissel 1995 France	Moderate	Low	Not clear	didactic	overall num- ber of mammo- graphies overall number of cervi- cal smears	Small (moderate (rel- ative),authors re- port NS (mam- mo- graphies); Small (relative) neg- ative for cervical smears; p<0.007
Dolan 1997 USA	Moderate	Low	Low-moderate	didactic	four skin screen- ing activities	Small (mod- erately large ef- fect (relative) but only on 1/4 vari- ables) Sig
Parker 1995 USA	Moderate	Low	Low for 4/5 vari- ables	didactic	care for patients with diabetes (5 variables)	Small (absolute); authors report NS; unit of anal- ysis error
Jennett 1988 Canada	High	Low for both	cancer screening: Low (control); Moderate (inter- vention); Hyper- tension: Low	workshop	cancer screening and hyper- tension manage- ment outcomes mea- sured at 6 and 12 months post-in- tervention	Moderate (rela- tive) for both outcomes (at 6 months) Sig
Clark 1998 USA	Moderate	High	Low-moderate	workshop	care for children with asthma (9 variables); health care outcomes (4	Small-moder- ate (relative: (11 variables); abso-

						vari- ables); outcomes measured up to 22 months post- intervention	lute (2 variables) Sig (8 variables)
Heale Canada	1988	Moderate	Moderate/high	Not clear	workshop	care for patients with any of 5 common prob- lems seen in fam- ily practice (6 variables)	Small group vs con- trol=small; small group vs large group= small; large group vs control=small, authors report all comparisons NS (relative); unit of analysis error
Dietrich USA	1992	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate (20%- 79%)	workshop	10 cancer screen- ing behaviours measured 12-14 months post-in- tervention	Small (moderate effect (sig) for 1/10 be- haviours but no effect for 9/10 behaviours); unit of analysis error
Smith United Kingdom	1995	Moderate	Moderate	Low	workshop	communi- cation skills with women about prena- tal screening out- comes measured immediately and 3 months post- intervention	Moderately large (relative) Sig
Wood USA	1989	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate-high	workshop	telephone com- muni- cation skills with parents (3 vari- ables) measured 3 months post- intervention	Moderate (sig) (3 variables: small, moderate, mod-large) (rela- tive)

 Table 2. Overall Results
 (Continued)

Kimberlin USA	1993	Moderate	Moderate	Not clear	workshop	coun- selling about pre- scriptions (8 be- haviours) mea- sured at 1 and 3 months post-in- tervention	Moderate/ mod- erately large (ab- solute) Sig for 5/8 variables
Hadiyono USA	1996	Moderate	Low	Low	workshop	use of injections measured 3 months post-in- tervention	Moderately large (relative) Sig
Levinson USA	1993	High	Moderate	Not clear	mixed	communciation skills with pa- tients in primary care measured 1 month post-in- tervention	Small (rela- tive) (authors do not report statis- tical significance for this compari- son)
Maiman USA	1988	High	Moderate/high	Not clear	mixed	compliance-en- hancing strate- gies patients with no missed doses outcomes mea- sured up to 6 months post-in- tervention	Moderately large (absolute) Sig for both outcomes Moderately large (absolute) Sig
Mazzuca USA	1987	High	Moderate	Not clear	mixed	arthritis screen- ing/ management ac- tivities measured up to 6 months post- intervention	Moderate (abso- lute) for screen- ing (Sig); unit of analysis error
Bexell Zambia	1996	High	Low	Low	mixed	prescribing out- comes measured up to 3 months post- intervention	Small (relative) Sig
Ockene USA	1996	Moderate	High	Not clear	mixed	choles- terol screening/ management ac- tivities measured	Small (rela- tive); authors re- port NS. How- ever, referrals for

Table 2. Overall Results (Continued)

Table 2.	Overall	Results	(Continued)
----------	---------	---------	-------------

					up to 24 months post- intervention	nutrition coun- selling were sig- nificantly worse in the interven- tion group.
Roter 1995 USA	Moderate	High	Not clear	mixed	com- munication skills to address emo- tional distress	Moderate (rela- tive) Sig for both intervention groups vs. con- trol
Strecher 1991 USA	Moderate	High	Not clear	mixed	smoking coun- selling patient 6 month quit rate	Moderately- large (relative) Sig; Small differ- ence in patients' quit rate, authors report NS
Sulmasy 1992 (extensive) USA	Moderate	High	Moderate/High	mixed	care for patients with 'do not re- suscitate' orders measured 2 to 3 months post-in- tervention	Moderate (rela- tive) Sig
Jones 1998 United Kingdom	Moderate	High	Moderate	mixed	patient position- ing to reduce spasticity measured up to 3 months post-in- tervention	Small (absolute) Sig (unit of anal- ysis error)
Perera 1983 USA	Moderate	High	Not clear (base- line rate was 9.8 and 6.2 sigmoi- doscopies per panel size per 1000 patients 40 years and older)	mixed	rate of sigmoido- scopies per 1000 patients (40 years and older)	Moderately large (relative) Sig
Sulmasy 1996 USA	Moderate	High	Low	mixed	advance di- rectives recorded in charts advance care plan- ning recorded in	Small (absolute). authors report NS at 5 months but sig at follow- up in one of two

Table 2. Overall Results (Continued)	Table 2.	Overall Results	(Continued)
--------------------------------------	----------	------------------------	-------------

						charts (2 vari- ables). Outcomes mea- sured at 5 and 18 months post-in- tervention	variables; unit of analysis error
Pekarik USA	1994	Moderate	Moderate-high	Not clear	mixed	group coun- selling skills, pa- tient satisfaction out- comes measured 10 weeks and 5 months post-in- tervention	Small for patient outcomes (rela- tive); Sig for 1 of 4 variables (unit of analysis error)
Westphal Brazil	1995	Moderate	High	Low	mixed	breast- feeding practices in hospitals	Small (relative) (statistical signif- icance not re- ported)
Kottke USA	1989	Moderate	Moderate/high	Not clear	mixed	smoking cessa- tion counselling behaviours mea- sured up to one month post-in- tervention, number of pa- tients who con- tinued to smoke at 1 year	Moderately large (small-moder- ately-large) (rel- ative) for coun- selling Sig for 4 of 6 variables Small effect for patient outcome, authors report NS
White USA	1985	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	mixed	care for patients with acute my- ocardial infarc- tion measured 6 months post-in- tervention	Moderate (rela- tive) Sig
Messmer USA	1998	Moderate	Low	Not clear	mixed	infection control prac- tices measured 1 week post-inter- vention	Moderately large (relative) Sig

Ward 1996 Aus- tralia	Moderate	Low	Low	mixed	number of patients asked about smoking status, number of patients asked about need for cervical smears	Moderate (rela- tive) Sig No sig- nificant dif- ference for cervi- cal smears
Wilson 1992 Canada	Moderate	Low	Low	mixed	provision of exercise advice measured up to 6 weeks post-inter- vention	Moderately large effect (relative) Sig

We also calculated standardised effect sizes (the difference in means divided by the square root of the pooled group variances) for each comparison (Hedges 1985) when sufficient data were available. We calculated overall estimates of effect using a random effects model (Smith 1995b) and tested for heterogeneity among the results for all of the individual comparisons. In these analyses, comparisons were grouped according to the type of intervention. We calculated an overall estimate of effect for each subgroup of comparisons and tested for heterogeneity.

RESULTS

Description of studies

See: Characteristics of included studies; Characteristics of excluded studies.

See Characteristics of included studies. Thirty-two studies met the inclusion criteria (36 comparisons). Thirty studies were RCTs and two used a NEGD. Twenty-four studies were based in North America, two in the United Kingdom, and one each in Australia, Brazil, France, Indonesia, Sri Lanka, and Zambia. While most of the participants in the studies were physicians (including postgraduate trainees), other studies involved nurses (Jones 1998; Mazzuca 1987; Messmer 1998; Parker 1995), psychotherapists (Pekarik 1994), pharmacists (Kimberlin 1993), or broadly defined 'health professionals' (Angunawela 1991; Bexell 1996; Hadiyono 1996; Westphal 1995). Health professional behaviour was measured in all but one study (Parker 1995). Eight studies measured a patient outcome (Clark 1998; Kottke 1989; Maiman 1988; Pekarik 1994; Roter 1995; Strecher 1991; White 1985; Wirtschafter 1986).

Nearly all the targeted behaviours involved learning a fairly complex set of skills such as the management of a clinical problem (Clark 1998; Heale 1988; Jones 1998; Kottke 1989; Maiman 1988; Mazzuca 1987; Messmer 1998; Ockene 1996; Parker 1995; Strecher 1991; Sulmasy 1992a; Sulmasy 1992b; Sulmasy 1996; White 1985; Wirtschafter 1986), prescribing (Bexell 1996) or prescribing counseling (Kimberlin 1993) and preventive care (Boissel 1995; Browner 1994; Dietrich 1992; Dolan 1997; Ward 1996; Wilson 1992). Jennett and colleagues (Jennett 1988) targeted preventive care (screening for colon and prostatic cancer) and treatment of hypertension. Four studies were focused upon improving communication skills (Levinson 1993; Roter 1995; Smith 1995b; Wood 1989). Two studies were designed to reduce the use of intramuscular injections in routine care (Angunawela 1991; Hadiyono 1996). One study was aimed at improving the initiation of breastfeeding (Westphal 1995), and one at improving sigmoidoscopy techniques (Perera 1983).

In seven studies, the format of the educational intervention was a lecture (Angunawela 1991; Boissel 1995; Browner 1994; Dolan 1997; Parker 1995; Sulmasy 1992a; Wirtschafter 1986). The duration of the lectures varied from 20 minutes to an all day session (Characteristics of included studies). In three studies, the lectures were held once. In the remaining four studies, the frequency of the lectures varied from twice to seven times.

In 25 studies, the intervention was a continuing education workshop or seminar involving interaction amongst participants sometimes including practice sessions and some type of didactic presentation. Both the duration and the frequency of the intervention varied. In 11 studies, the workshops were held once and lasted anywhere from several hours to two (Dietrich 1992) or three days (Ward 1996). In two of the 11 studies, home study was also expected (Kimberlin 1993; Pekarik 1994). In eight studies, the intervention took place on two occasions with each session lasting from two to three hours. In four studies, the intervention took place on three or more occasions. The longest intervention was a course that took place on 18 consecutive days (Westphal 1995). One of the studies (Jennett 1988) used an intervention that consisted of small group sessions (teleconferences) but no study investigated the use of journal clubs.

Assessing barriers to change and educational needs

Barriers to change were defined as factors affecting the individual or associated with the practice setting that prevented the uptake of new behaviours. Only one study formally assessed barriers to change and designed the intervention specifically to address them: the barrier to change was patient expectations; the subsequent intervention consisted of small focus groups comprised of both patients and health care providers to discuss ways of decreasing the use of intramuscular injections in routine care (Hadiyono 1996). In another study (Jennett 1988), there was an explicit attempt to involve learners by conducting a formal six step assessment of participant learning needs. In 14 studies, the authors explicitly made some attempt to determine the knowledge, attitudes or skills of participants prior to the intervention.

Risk of bias in included studies

Generally, the methods used in the included studies were poorly reported. In seven studies, overall protection against bias was scored as 'high' and in 24 studies, overall protection against bias was scored as 'moderate' (see Characteristics of included studies). There were no studies scored as 'low' protection against bias. In most trials (26/30), adequate concealment of allocation could not be determined from the published report. There was adequate follow-up of health professionals and adequate blinding of the outcome assessment in less than half of the studies. In the two studies that used a NEGD (Messmer 1998; Wood 1989), overall protection against bias was scored as 'moderate' because of adequate blinding and follow-up even though the groups were not randomly assigned. In eight studies, the unit of analysis was not appropriate for interventions aimed at changing the delivery of health care (Divine 1992; Whiting-O'Keefe 1984). These analyses may result in overly narrow confidence intervals.

Effects of interventions

Table 5. Tright Protection righting Dias		
Effect Score	Number of Comparisons (n=8)	
Relative	Absolute	
Moderately Large	Х	
Moderate	XXX	
Small	XXX	

Table 3. High Protection Against Bias

Comparison I. Educational meetings versus no intervention

There were 32 studies (35 comparisons) that investigated educational meetings versus a non-intervention control group. Of these, 24 studies (26 comparisons) reported significant improvement in professional practice (in at least one major outcome measure). There were statistically significant changes in favour of the experimental group in three of the eight studies that measured a patient outcome. There was important heterogeneity in the effect scores reported, which ranged from a negative effect to moderately large effects (Table 2). For the 12 comparisons for which sufficient data were available to calculate standardised effect sizes, substantial heterogeneity was found (Q = 38.1, df = 11, P < 0.0001).

Comparison 2. Interactive educational meetings versus lectures

There was one direct comparison of educational meetings that included an interactive workshop with a didactic presentation (Heale 1988). This compared a small group format to either a large group case-based discussion or a traditional lecture format and reported no differences between experimental and control groups. In examining indirect (between study) comparisons of interactive workshops and didactic presentations we attempted to control for other differences among the studies, as described under 'Methods'.

Explanatory analyses

Analysis I. The potential of protection against bias to explain variation in the results

There was little variation in the quality of the included studies based on our classification of study quality. In examining Table 3: High protection against bias and Table 4: Moderate protection against bias, we were unable to detect a pattern of the effect scores in relationship to protection against bias.

Table 3. High Protection Against Bias (Continued)

Negative	0	
----------	---	--

X = significant effect in favour of the experimental group; 0 = non significant effect in favour of the experimental group; # = unit of analysis error.

Table 4. Moderate Protection Against Bias

Effect Score	Number of Comparisons (n=28)
Relative	Absolute
Moderately Large	XXXXXXX
Moderate	XXXXX #
Small	X00000 ########
Negative	

X = significant effect in favour of the experimental group; 0 = non significant effect in favour of the experimental group; # = unit of analysis error.

Analysis 2. The potential of the type of intervention to explain variation in the results

In examining Table 5: Didactic presentations, Table 6: Mixed didactic presentations and workshops, and Table 7: Interactive workshops, we found a pattern of the effect scores in relationship to type of intervention which corresponded with our a priori hypothesis: the effect scores appear to increase in relationship to increasing interactivity.

Table 5. Didactic Presentations

Effect Score	Number of Comparisons (n=7)
Relative	Absolute
Moderately Large	
Moderate	
Small	0000 ##
Negative	0

X = significant effect in favour of the experimental group; 0 = non significant effect in favour of the experimental group; # = unit of analysis error.

Table 6. Mixed Didactic Presentations and Workshops

Effect Score	Number of Comparisons (n=19)
Relative	Absolute
Moderately Large	XXXXXX
Moderate	XXXXX #
Small	X000 ###
Negative	

X = significant effect in favour of the experimental group; 0 = non significant effect in favour of the experimental group; # = unit of analysis error.

Table 7. Interactive Workshops

Effect Score	Number of Comparisons (n=10)
Relative	Absolute
Moderately Large	XX
Moderate	XXXX
Small	X ###
Negative	

X = significant effect in favour of the experimental group; 0 = non significant effect in favour of the experimental group; # = unit of analysis error.

small effect in the figure.

Didactic presentations

See Table 5: Didactic presentations.

In seven randomised trials, at least one of the experimental arms was a presentation or a lecture targeted at specific behaviours (Angunawela 1991; Boissel 1995; Browner 1994; Dolan 1997; Parker 1995; Sulmasy 1992a; Wirtschafter 1986). The settings of the studies included a general or primary care practice (four studies), a long-term care facility (one study) or a critical care unit (two studies). The duration and frequency of the interventions varied. For example, one intervention consisted of 20 minute sessions held seven times, two weeks apart; other interventions were held once for three hours or seven hours (one day). In six of seven studies, there were no significant differences reported. One study reported a statistically significant effect in one of four skin cancer screening behaviours (Dolan 1997) and is reported as an overall small effect in the figure. In another study (Boissel 1995), there was a significant negative effect on one of two outcomes measures (cervical cancer screening). This study is also reported as an overall

Mixed didactic presentations and workshops

See Table 6: Mixed didactic presentations and workshops.

In 18 randomised trials and one study using a non equivalent group design, the interventions combined workshops with didactic presentations. The settings included family practice or primary care (nine studies), acute care (six studies), a health centre (Bexell 1996) or an outpatient clinic (two studies). The duration and frequency of these interventions also varied. For example, one session was held twice and lasted for 1.5 hours, while the longest intervention was held for 18 full days. Eleven studies reported moderate or moderately large effects, and five reported small effects. In two studies, there was no effect of the intervention. Four studies also reported improvement in practice but these studies used an incorrect unit of analysis. Improvement in patient outcomes was noted in two of six studies where these were assessed.

Interactive workshops (eight studies, 10 comparisons)

See Table 7: Interactive workshops.

In seven randomised controlled trials, interactive workshops were compared to either a no intervention control group (Clark 1998; Dietrich 1992; Hadiyono 1996; Jennett 1988; Kimberlin 1993; Smith 1995b), a large group problem based session (Heale 1988) or a lecture format (Heale 1988). In six of seven studies, the health professionals practised in a community setting such as a general or family practice (four studies), a community pharmacy (one study), or a public health centre (one study). In one study, the setting was a hospital clinic (Smith 1995b). One non-randomised study examined the effects of a workshop in an out-patient clinic in which paediatric residents used role-play to reinforce telephone consultation skills (Wood 1989). The shortest intervention lasted about one hour while the longest session was held for one day.

In seven of eight studies, there were statistically significant improvements in practice in at least one major outcome measure in favour of the experimental group. In six studies, the effect scores were moderate or moderately large, and in one study the effect score was small. Dietrich et al (Dietrich 1992) reported that only one of 10 preventive care outcomes (mammography) was significantly improved. One of seven studies measured a patient outcome. Clark and colleagues (Clark 1998) reported significant reduction in asthma symptoms among paediatric patients.

Standardised effect sizes for different types of educational meetings

There were only 11 studies (12 comparisons) with sufficient data to calculate standardised effect sizes using an appropriate unit of analysis. The range of effects was from -0.30 (95% CI -0.71 to 0.11) to 1.52 (95% CI 0.58 to 2.47). There was substantial heterogeneity across all of the comparisons (Q = 38.1, df = 11, P < 0.0001). The overall effect size for comparisons that included only didactic elements was -0.02 (95% CI -0.27 to 0.20, Q = 2.72, df = 2, P = 0.26). For the comparisons that included interactive elements, the overall effect size was 0.84 (95% CI 0.51 to 1.17, Q =12.39, df = 8, P = 0.13). The 95% confidence intervals for both didactic and interactive comparisons are broad, reflecting the small number of studies, the small size of the studies and the observed variability of the results.

Analysis 3. The potential of the complexity of the targeted behaviours to explain variation in the results

In examining Table 8: High complexity behaviours, Table 9: Moderate complexity behaviours, and Table 10: Low complexity behaviours, we had the impression that the effect score tends to increase as the complexity of the targeted behaviour decreases, as we hypothesised, although this pattern was not as striking as the pattern we observed in relationship to the degree of interactivity.

Effect Score	Number of Comparisons (n=12)
Relative	Absolute
Moderately Large	XX
Moderate	XXX
Small	X000 ##
Negative	0

Table 8. High Complexity Behaviours

X = significant effect in favour of the experimental group; 0 = non significant effect in favour of the experimental group; # = unit of analysis error.

Table 9. Moderate Complexity Behaviours

Effect Score	Number of Comparisons (n=13)
Relative	Absolute
Moderately Large	XXX
Moderate	XXX #
Small	0 #####
Negative	

X = significant effect in favour of the experimental group; 0 = non significant effect in favour of the experimental group; # = unit of analysis error.

Table 10. Low Complexity Behaviours

Effect Score	Number of Comparisons (n=11)
Relative	Absolute
Moderately Large	XXX
Moderate	XXX
Small	0000 #
Negative	

X = significant effect in favour of the experimental group; 0 = non significant effect in favour of the experimental group; # = unit of analysis error.

Analysis 4. The potential of baseline compliance to explain variation in the results

Data for baseline compliance with the targeted behaviour were missing for 16 of the 36 comparisons. In examining Table 11: Moderate baseline compliance, Table 12: Low-moderate baseline compliance, and Table 13: Low baseline compliance, we were unable to detect a pattern of the relative effect scores in relationship to baseline compliance.

Table 11.	Moderate	Baseline	Compliance
-----------	----------	----------	------------

Effect Score	Number of Comparisons (n=6)
Relative	Absolute

Moderately Large	
Moderate	XXXX
Small	##
Negative	

Table 11. Moderate Baseline Compliance (Continued)

X = significant effect in favour of the experimental group; 0 = non significant effect in favour of the experimental group; # = unit of analysis error.

Table 12. Low-Moderate Baseline Compliance

Effect Score	Number of Comparisons (n=2)
Relative	Absolute
Moderately Large	
Moderate	
Small	X0
Negative	

X = significant effect in favour of the experimental group; 0 = non significant effect in favour of the experimental group; # = unit of analysis error.

Table 13. Low Baseline Compliance

Effect Score	Number of Comparisons (n=12)
Relative	Absolute
Moderately Large	XXX
Moderate	XX
Small	0000 ##
Negative	0

X = significant effect in favour of the experimental group; 0 = non significant effect in favour of the experimental group; # = unit of analysis error.

Other comparisons

For the comparison of small group educational meetings versus a large group, there was one study (two comparisons). Heale et al (Heale 1988) reported no significant difference for either comparison.

For the last two proposed comparisons, educational meetings that include a preceptorship or traineeship with opportunity to practise skills compared with educational meetings alone and educational meetings that include a local consensus process compared to educational meetings alone, there were no direct comparisons.

Publication bias

We plotted the relative effect scores against the number of health professionals in each study to explore the possibility of publication bias (Egger 1997). Visual examination suggests that there may be fewer small studies of interactive and mixed interventions with non-significant results (three with fewer than 50 participants) than studies with moderately large effects (six with fewer than 50 participants).

DISCUSSION

How good is the evidence of the effects of continuing education meetings?

In this review, we located 32 studies meeting our inclusion criteria. Given the popularity of continuing education activities as a method to help health professionals keep up to date, there are relatively few studies that rigorously evaluate this activity. Overall, the methods used in the studies were poorly reported. Most authors did not report sufficient detail about the study design, making it difficult to judge the degree to which the results may be biased. For example, concealment of allocation was rarely reported. Similarly, there was insufficient reporting of follow-up of health professionals and blinding of the outcome measures. When important details about study design were missing from the published report, the item was scored as 'not clear' rather than 'not done'. This may have resulted in an under-estimate of the risk of bias. In the review, we categorised the overall quality as high, moderate or low protection against bias based upon the study design, follow-up of health professionals and blinding of assessment of study outcomes. It is possible that these three items may not be the most important sources of bias in implementation research. In addition, the small size of many of the included trials in terms of the number of participating health care professionals, and the fact that most of the participants were volunteers, further limits the strength of the conclusions that can be drawn.

Overall, it is possible that the included studies overestimate the effects of continuing education meetings because of bias in the included studies, the fact that most of the participants were volunteers, and publication bias. While it is possible and perhaps even likely that 'negative' studies with statistically non-significant results were under reported (Dickersin 1997; Stern 1997; Ioannidis 1998), the extent of this bias is impossible to judge. Inspection of a funnel plot diagram in which we plotted the relative effect score against the number of health professionals in each study suggested that there are fewer small studies of interactive and mixed interventions with non-significant results than small studies with moderately large effects. However, the power of this analysis is limited and provides only weak support for the hypothesis that there may have been a publication bias.

Are interactive workshops more effective than lectures?

The use of 'traditional' continuing education such as didactic lectures has been criticised (Davis 1994; Kanouse 1988). Much of this criticism of passive diffusion of information stems from the assumption that participants in continuing education activities are willing and able to make changes, no matter how large a gap between perceptions of desired and actual practice (Davis 1994; Lomas 1987). Based on our review, this criticism appears justified. The few studies included in this review that evaluated didactic presentations alone did not show an effect upon professional practice. This finding does not indicate whether didactic presentations improved knowledge, but it does indicate that they did not improve performance, whether or not they did improve knowledge. In contrast, studies that used small group discussion and practice sessions to enhance skills were more likely to be effective in improving practice. This latter finding was not consistent across all studies as at least 11 comparisosn that used interactive or mixed activities reported small effects or non-significant differences between groups, especially if the behaviour to be changed was complex.

We believe that decisions about continuing education meetings should be based on the results of these subgroups of studies (didactic presentations versus interactive workshops) rather than on the overall results for the following reasons. The hypothesised difference preceded the analysis and is consistent with pedagogical theories, and the magnitude of the interaction was large. The qualitative analyses and the quantitative analyses that we conducted consistently supported that there is a difference in the effects of didactic presentations and interactive workshops. However, support for this hypothesised difference is based on indirect evidence; that is between study comparisons. We found only one direct comparison of a didactic presentation with an interactive workshop, which had inconclusive results.

What makes some interactive workshops more effective than others?

The studies included in this review do not provide helpful evidence regarding the importance of the size of the group, the length or number of sessions, practising skills or achieving a local consensus. We located only one small study that formally examined the size of the group (Heale 1988). In this study, insufficient data were reported, making interpretation difficult. Many interventions lasted for less than a day, failed to involve learners in the design of the intervention yet attempted to influence change in complex behaviours. Since long-term follow-up did not occur in most studies, it is uncertain if any effects of the interventions were long lasting.

AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS

Implications for practice

Interactive workshops can improve professional practice. Lectures alone are unlikely to change professional practice. For those planning and attending continuing education conferences or meetings, the evidence reviewed here provides support for offering and attending interactive workshops rather than lectures, to the extent that the aim is to improve professional practice. There may be other reasons for offering and attending lectures, including entertainment, social and motivational functions, but interactive workshops are more likely to result in improvements in health care, either alone or in combination with other interventions.

Implications for research

Despite the small number of rigorous evaluations of the effects of lectures on professional practice, this review provides little support for further evaluations of this type of continuing education meeting. In contrast, interactive workshops have variable effects and future research should focus on specific attributes of workshops that may contribute to their effectiveness, including group size, the opportunity to practise skills and the use of follow-up sessions. Qualitative process evaluations combined with RCTs of interactive workshops could help to clarify how specific attributes of workshops might contribute to effects on professional practice. Better reporting of these trials would also help.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We wish to thank Cynthia Fraser and Anne Taylor Vaisey for their assistance with the library search.

REFERENCES

References to studies included in this review

Angunawela 1991 {published data only}

* Angunawela II, Diwan VK, Tomson G. Experimental evaluation of the effects of drug information on antibiotic prescribing: a study in outpatient care in an area of Sri lanka. *Int J Epidemiol* 1991;**20** (2):558–64. [MEDLINE: 92010497]

Bexell 1996 {published data only}

* Bexell A, Lwando E, von Hofsten B, Tembo S, Eriksson B, Diwan VK. Improving drug use through continuing education: a randomized controlled trial in Zambia. *J Clin Epidemiol* 1996;**49**(3):355–7. [MEDLINE: 96275776]

Boissel 1995 {published data only}

* Boissel JP, Collet JP, Alborini A, Cordel JC, Filsnoel J, Gillet J, et al.Education program for general practitioners on breast and cervical cancer screening: a randomized trial. PRE.SA.GF Collaborative Group. *Rev Epidemiol Sante Publique* 1995;**43**(6):541–7. [MED-LINE: 96141324]

Browner 1994 {published data only}

* Browner WS, Baron RB, Solkowitz S, Adler LJ, Gullion DS. Physician management of hypercholesterolemia. A randomized trial of continuing medical education. *West J Med* 1994;**161**(6):572–8. [MEDLINE: 95159507]

Clark 1998 {published data only}

* Clark NM, Gong M, Schork MA, Evans D, Roloff D, Hurwitz M, et al.Impact of education for physicians on patient outcomes. *Pediatrics* 1998;**101**(5):831–6. [MEDLINE: 98232528]

Dietrich 1992 {published data only}

Carney PA, Dietrich AJ, Freeman DHJ, Mott LA. A standardizedpatient assessment of a continuing medical education program to improve physicians' cancer-control clinical skills. *Acad Med* 1995;**70** (1):52–8. [MEDLINE: 95127025]

* Dietrich AJ, O'Connor GT, Keller A, Carney PA, Levy D, Whaley FS. Cancer: improving early detection and prevention. A community practice randomised trial. *BMJ* 1992;**304**(6828):687–91.

[MEDLINE: 92240134]

Dolan 1997 {published data only}

* Dolan NC, Ng JS, Martin GJ, Robinson JK, Rademaker AW. Effectiveness of a skin cancer control educational intervention for internal medicine housestaff and attending physicians. *J Gen Intern Med* 1997;**12**(9):531–6. [MEDLINE: 97440568]

Hadiyono 1996 {published data only}

* Hadiyono JE, Suryawati S, Danu SS, Sunartono, Santoso B. Interactional group discussion: results of a controlled trial using a behavioral intervention to reduce the use of injections in public health facilities. *Soc Sci Med* 1996;**42**(8):1177–83. [MEDLINE: 96300628]

Heale 1988 {published data only}

* Heale J, Davis D, Norman G, Woodward C, Neufeld V, Dodd P. A randomized controlled trial assessing the impact of problem-based versus didactic teaching methods in CME. *Proc Annu Conf Res Med Educ* 1988;**27**:72–7. [MEDLINE: 89116890]

Jennett 1988 {published data only}

* Jennett PA, Laxdal OE, Hayton RC, Klaassen DJ, Swanson RW, Wilson TW, et al. The effects of continuing medical education on family doctor performance in office practice: a randomized control study. *Med Educ* 1988;**22**(2):139–45. [MEDLINE: 88232494]

Jones 1998 {published data only}

* Jones A, Carr EK, Newham DJ, Wilson-Barnett J. Positioning of stroke patients: evaluation of a teaching intervention with nurses. *Stroke* 1998;**29**(8):1612–7. [MEDLINE: 98370699]

Kimberlin 1993 {published data only}

* Kimberlin CL, Berardo DH, Pendergast JF, McKenzie LC. Effects of an education program for community pharmacists on detecting drug-related problems in elderly patients. *Med Care* 1993;**31**(5): 451–68. [MEDLINE: 93274968]

Kottke 1989 {published data only}

* Kottke TE, Brekke ML, Solberg LI, Hughes JR. A randomized trial to increase smoking intervention by physicians. Doctors Helping Smokers, Round I. *JAMA* 1989;**261**(14):2101–6. [MEDLINE: 89178992]

Levinson 1993 {published data only}

* Levinson W, Roter D. The effects of two continuing medical education programs on communication skills of practicing primary care physicians. *J Gen Intern Med* 1993;8(6):318–24. [MEDLINE: 93308543]

Maiman 1988 {published data only}

* Maiman LA, Becker MH, Liptak GS, Nazarian LF, Rounds KA. Improving pediatricians' compliance-enhancing practices. A randomized trial. *Am J Dis Child* 1988;**142**(7):773–9. [MEDLINE: 88250182]

Mazzuca 1987 {published data only}

* Mazzuca SA, Barger GJ, Brandt KD. Arthritis care in older-adult centers. A controlled study of an education program for public health nurses. *Arthritis Rheum* 1987;**30**(3):275–80. [MEDLINE: 87184727]

Messmer 1998 {published data only}

* Messmer PR, Jones S, Moore J, Taggart B, Parchment Y, Holloman F, et al.Knowledge, perceptions, and practice of nurses toward HIV+/AIDS patients diagnosed with tuberculosis. *J Contin Educ Nurs* 1998;**29**(3):117–25. [MEDLINE: 98316081]

Ockene 1996 {published data only}

* Ockene IS, Hebert JR, Ockene JK, Merriam PA, Hurley TG, Saperia GM. Effect of training and a structured office practice on physician-delivered nutrition counseling: the Worcester-Area Trial for Counseling in Hyperlipidemia (WATCH). *Am J Prev Med* 1996; 12(4):252–8. [MEDLINE: 97028675]

Parker 1995 {published data only}

* Parker MT, Leggett-Frazier N, Vincent PA, Swanson MS. The impact of an educational program on improving diabetes knowledge and changing behaviors of nurses in long-term care facilities. *Diabetes Educ* 1995;**21**(6):541–5. [MEDLINE: 96142968]

Pekarik 1994 {published data only}

* Pekarik G. Effects of brief therapy training on practicing psychotherapists and their clients. *Community Ment Health J* 1994;**30** (2):135–44. [MEDLINE: 94283046]

Perera 1983 {published data only}

* Perera DR, LoGerfo JP, Shulenberger E, Ylvisaker JT, Kirz HL. Teaching sigmoidoscopy to primary care physicians: a controlled study of continuing medical education. *J Fam Pract* 1983;**16**(4): 785–8. [MEDLINE: 83163056]

Roter 1995 {published data only}

* Roter DL, Hall JA, Kern DE, Barker LR, Cole KA, Roca RP. Improving physicians' interviewing skills and reducing patients' emotional distress. A randomized clinical trial. *Arch Intern Med* 1995; 155(17):1877–84. [MEDLINE: 95408063]

Smith 1995a {published data only}

* Smith DK, Shaw RW, Slack J, Marteau TM. Training obstetricians and midwives to present screening tests: evaluation of two brief interventions. *Prenat Diagn* 1995;**15**(4):317–24. [MEDLINE: 95342799]

Strecher 1991 {published data only}

* Strecher VJ, O'Malley MS, Villagra VG, Campbell EE, Gonzalez JJ, Irons TG, et al.Can residents be trained to counsel patients about quitting smoking? Results from a randomized trial. *J Gen Intern Med* 1991;**6**(1):9–17. [MEDLINE: 91154937]

Sulmasy 1992a {published data only}

Sulmasy DP, Geller G, Faden R, Levine DM. The quality of mercy: caring for patients with 'do not resuscitate' orders. *JAMA* 1992;**267** (5):682–6. [MEDLINE: 92114227]

Sulmasy 1992b {published data only}

Sulmasy DP, Geller G, Faden R, Levine DM. The quality of mercy: caring for patients with 'do not resuscitate' orders. *JAMA* 1992;**267** (5):682–6. [MEDLINE: 92114227]

Sulmasy 1996 {published data only}

* Sulmasy DP, Song KY, Marx ES, Mitchell JM. Strategies to promote the use of advance directives in a residency outpatient practice. *J Gen Intern Med* 1996;**11**(11):657–63. [MEDLINE: 97117163]

Ward 1996 {published data only}

* Ward J, Sanson-Fisher R. Does a 3-day workshop for family medicine trainees improve preventive care? A randomized control trial. *Prev Med* 1996;**25**(6):741–7. [MEDLINE: 97090669]

Westphal 1995 {published data only}

* Westphal MF, Taddei JA, Venancio SI, Bogus CM. Breast-feeding training for health professionals and resultant institutional

changes. Bull World Health Organ 1995;73(4):461-8. [MEDLINE: 96040922]

White 1985 {published data only}

* White CW, Albanese MA, Brown DD, Caplan RM. The effectiveness of continuing medical education in changing the behavior of physicians caring for patients with acute myocardial infarction. A controlled randomized trial. *Ann Intern Med* 1985;**102**(5):686–92. [MEDLINE: 85172933]

Wilson 1992 {published data only}

Wilson DMC, Siliska D, Singer J, Williams K, Alleynes J, Linsay E. Family physicians and exercise counselling: can they be influenced to provide more?. *Can Fam Physician* 1992;**38**:2003–10.

Wirtschafter 1986 {published data only}

* Wirtschafter DD, Sumners J, Jackson JR, Brooks CM, Turner M. Continuing medical education using clinical algorithms. A controlled-trial assessment of effect on neonatal care. *Am J Dis Child* 1986;**140**(8):791–7. [MEDLINE: 86265506]

Wood 1989 {published data only}

* Wood PR, Littlefield JH, Foulds DM. Telephone management curriculum for pediatric interns: a controlled trial. *Pediatrics* 1989; **83**(6):925–30. [MEDLINE: 89263492]

References to studies excluded from this review

Camp-Sorrell 1991 {published data only}

* Camp-Sorrell D, O'Sullivan P. Effects of continuing education. Pain assessment and documentation. *Cancer Nurs* 1991;**14**(1):49– 54. [MEDLINE: 91191479]

Campbell 1991 {published data only}

* Campbell HS, Fletcher SW, Pilgrim CA, Morgan TM, Lin S. Improving physicians' and nurses' clinical breast examination: a randomized controlled trial. *Am J Prev Med* 1991;7(1):1–8. [MED-LINE: 91329041]

Carlsson 1998 {published data only}

* Carlsson B, Gravgaard AM, Moller T, Wallin K, Lindholm LH. Teaching oncology and cancer care to general practice trainees in Sweden: a two-year prospective, randomized study. *J Cancer Educ* 1998;**13**(1):14–9. [MEDLINE: 98226978]

Davidoff 1989 {published data only}

* Davidoff F, Goodspeed R, Clive J. Changing test ordering behavior. A randomized controlled trial comparing probabilistic reasoning with cost-containment education. *Med Care* 1989;**27**(1):45–58. [MEDLINE: 89095997]

Dunn 1992 {published data only}

* Dunn S, Niday P, Watters NE, McGrath P, Alcock D. The provision and evaluation of a neonatal resuscitation program. *J Contin Educ Nurs* 1992;**23**(3):118–26. [MEDLINE: 92242621]

Francke 1997 {published data only}

* Francke AL, Luiken JB, de Schepper AM, Abu-Saad HH, Grypdonck M. Effects of a continuing education program on nurses' pain assessment practices. *J Pain Symptom Manage* 1997;**13**(2):90–7. [MEDLINE: 97249703]

Langewitz 1998 {published data only}

* Langewitz WA, Eich P, Kiss A, Wossmer B. Improving communication skills - a randomized controlled behaviorally oriented intervention study for residents in internal medicine. *Psychosom Med* 1998; **60**(3):268–76. [MEDLINE: 98286877]

Ockene 1995 {published data only}

* Ockene JK, Ockene IS, Quirk ME, Hebert JR, Saperia GM, Luippold RS, et al.Physician training for patient-centered nutrition counseling in a lipid intervention trial. *Prev Med* 1995;**24**(6):563–70. [MEDLINE: 96197574]

Quirk 1991 {published data only}

* Quirk M, Ockene J, Kristeller J, Goldberg R, Donnelly G, Amick T, et al. Training family practice and internal medicine residents to counsel patients who smoke: improvement and retention of counseling skills. *Fam Med* 1991;**23**(2):108–11. [MEDLINE: 91244100]

Roter 1990 {published data only}

* Roter DL, Cole KA, Kern DE, Barker LR, Grayson M. An evaluation of residency training in interviewing skills and the psychosocial domain of medical practice. *J Gen Intern Med* 1990;5(4):347–54. [MEDLINE: 90325017]

Saturno 1995 {published data only}

* Saturno PJ. Training health professionals to implement quality improvement activities. Results of a randomized controlled trial after one year of follow-up. *Int J Qual Health Care* 1995;7(2):119–26. [MEDLINE: 95384548]

Stross 1983 {published data only}

* Stross JK. Maintaining competency in advanced cardiac life support skills. *JAMA* 1983;**249**(24):3339–41. [MEDLINE: 83216535]

Terry 1981 {published data only}

* Terry PB, Wang VL, Flynn BS, Cuthie J, Salim JH, Windsor RA, et al.A continuing medical education program in chronic obstructive pulmonary diseases: design and outcome. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 1981; **123**(1):42–6. [MEDLINE: 81107807]

Zwar 1995 {published data only}

* Zwar NA, Gordon JJ, Sanson-Fisher RW. Evaluation of an educational program in rational prescribing for GP trainees. *Aust Fam Physician* 1995;**24**(5):833–8. [MEDLINE: 95314499]

Additional references

Cook 1979

Cook TJ, Campbell DT. *Quasi-Experimentation: design and analysis issues for field settings.* Boston: Houghton Mifflin Company, 1979.

Davis 1991

Davis D, Rox R. The Research and Development of Resource Base in CME. *An Annotated Bibliography and Literature Searching Service. Annual Report.* Hamilton: McMaster University, 1991.

Davis 1992

Davis DA, Thomson MA, Oxman AD, Haynes RB. Evidence for the effectiveness of CME. A review of 50 randomized controlled trials. *JAMA* 1992;**268**:1111–7. [MEDLINE: 92365208]

Davis 1994

Davis Da, Rox RD (eds). *The physician as learner: linking research to practice*. American Medical Association, 1994.

Davis 1995

Davis DA, Thomson MA, Oxman AD, Haynes RB. Changing physician performance: a systematic review of the effect of continuing

medical education strategies. *JAMA* 1995;**274**:700–5. [MEDLINE: 95379164]

Dickersin 1997

Dickersin K. How important is publication bias? A synthesis of available data. *AIDS Education and Prevention* 1997;**9**(suppl. A): 15–21. [MEDLINE: 97237118]

Divine 1992

Divine GW, Brown T, Frazier LM. The unit of analysis error in studies about physicians' patient care behaviour. *J Gen Intern Med* 1992;7:623–9. [MEDLINE: 93085444]

EBHC 1999

EBHC. Getting evidence into practice. *Effective Health Care* 1999; **5**(1):1–16.

Egger 1997

Egger M, Davey Smith G, Schneider M, Minder C. Bias in metaanalysis detected by a simple, graphical test. *BMJ* 1997;**315**:629–34. [MEDLINE: 97456606]

Frank 2000

Frank E, Baldwin G, Langlieb AM. Continuing medical education habits of US women physicians. *J Am Med Womens Assoc* 2000;**55**: 27–8. [MEDLINE: 20144656]

Goulet 1998

Goulet F, Gagnon RJ, Desrosiers G, Jacques A, Sindon A. Participation in CME activities. *Can Fam Physician* 1998;**44**:541–8. [MED-LINE: 98219948]

Hayes 1990

Hayes TM, Allery LA, Harding KG, Owen PA. Continuing education for general practice and the role of the pharmaceutical industry. *Br J Gen Pract* 1990;**40**:510–2. [MEDLINE: 91128786]

Hedges 1985

Hedges LV, Olkin I. *Statistical methods for meta analysis*. London: Academic Press, 1985.

Ioannidis 1998

Ioannidis JPA. Effect of the statistical significance of results on the time to completion and publication of randomised efficacy trials. *JAMA* 1998;**279**:281–6. [MEDLINE: 98111172]

Kanouse 1988

Kanouse DE, Jacoby I. When does information change practitioners' behaviour?. Int J Technology Assessment in Health Care 1988;4:27–33.

Lecoq-d'Andre 1999

Lecoq-D'Andre F, Balbalanc JC. Continuing medical education for rheumatologists in France. Results of a national survey. *Rev Rhum Engl Ed* 1999;**66**:717–23.

Lomas 1987

Lomas J, Haynes RB. A taxonomy and critical review of tested strategies for the application of clinical practice recommendations: from "official" to "individual" clinical policy. *Am J Prev Med* 1987;4:77–94. [MEDLINE: 90321627]

Nylenna 2000

Nylenna M, Aasland OG. Primary care physicians and their information-seeking behaviour. *Scan J Prim Health Care* 2000;**18**:9–13. [MEDLINE: 20269173]

Oxman 1995

Oxman AD, Thomson MA, Davis DA, Haynes RB. No magic bullets: a systematic review of 102 trials on interventions to improve professional practice. *Can Med Assoc J* 1995;**153**:1423–31. [MED-LINE: 96067031]

Peck 2000

Peck C, McCall M, McLaren B, Rotem T. Continuing medical education and professional development: international comparisons. *BMJ* 2000;**320**:432–5. [MEDLINE: 20134479]

Rothenberg 1982

Rothenberg E, Wolk M, Scheidt S, Schwartz M, Aarons B, Pierson RN Jr. Continuing medical education in New York County: physician attitudes and practices. *J Med Educ* 1982;**57**:541–9. [MED-LINE: 82216733]

Smith 1995b

Smith TC, Spiegelhalter DJ, Thomas A. Bayesian approaches to random-effects meta-analysis: a comparative study. *Stat Med* 1995;**14**: 2685–99. [MEDLINE: 96201053]

Stern 1997

Stern JM, Simes RJ. Publication bias: evidence of delayed publication of clinical research projects. *BMJ* 1997;**315**:640–5. [MEDLINE: 97456608]

Turner 1991

Turner P. Benefits and costs of continuing nursing education: an analytical survey. *J Contin Educ Nurs* 1991;**22**:104–8. [MEDLINE: 91318001]

Whiting-O'Keefe 1984

Whiting-O'Keefe QE, Henke C, Simborg DW. Choosing the correct unit of analysis in medical care experiments. *Med Care* 1984;**22**: 1101–14. [MEDLINE: 85084917]

References to other published versions of this review

Davis 1999

Davis D, O'Brien MAT, Freemantle N, Wolf FM, Mazmanian P, Taylor-Vaisey A. Impact of formal continuing medical education. Do conferences, workshops, rounds, and other traditional continuing education activities change physician behavior or health care outcomes?. *JAMA* 1999;**282**:867–74. [MEDLINE: 99405799; PMID: 10478694]

* Indicates the major publication for the study

CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES

Characteristics of included studies [ordered by study ID]

Angunawela 1991

Methods	RCT Randomisation concealment: NOT CLEAR Follow-up providers: DONE Blinded assessment: DONE Overall protection against bias: HIGH		
Participants	31 prescribers (physicians or assistant medical practitioners) in 15 institutions Behaviour complexity: LOW Country: SRI LANKA		
Interventions	Didactic: 3-hour 'seminar' with 7-8 participants + educational materials (EM)		
Outcomes	antibiotic prescribing measured up to three months post-intervention Baseline compliance: LOW		
Notes			
Risk of bias			
Item	Authors' judgement	Description	
Allocation concealment?	Unclear	B - Unclear	

Bexell 1996

Methods	RCT Randomisation concealment: NOT CLEAR Follow-up providers: DONE Blinded assessment: DONE Overall protection against bias: HIGH
Participants	Prescribers (clinical officers and medical officers) in 16 health centres Behaviour complexity: LOW Country: ZAMBIA
Interventions	Mixed: Three two-day seminars held over four months
Outcomes	prescribing outcomes measured up to 3 months post-intervention Baseline compliance: LOW

Bexell 1996 (Continued)

Notes			
Risk of bias			
Item	Authors' judgement	Description	
Allocation concealment?	Unclear	B - Unclear	
Boissel 1995			
Methods	RCT Randomisation concealment: NOT CLEAR Follow-up providers: DONE Blinded assessment: NOT CLEAR Overall protection against bias: MODERATE		
Participants	385 general practitioners in 278 practices providing breast and cervical cancer screening Behaviour complexity: LOW Country: FRANCE		
Interventions	Didactic: session + EM held for 1 day		
Outcomes	overall number of mammographies overall number of cervical smears outcomes measured up to one year post-intervention Baseline compliance: NOT CLEAR		
Notes			
Risk of bias			
Item	Authors' judgement	Description	
Allocation concealment?	Unclear	B - Unclear	

Browner 1994

Methods	RCT Randomisation concealment: DONE (off-site computer generated list) Follow-up providers: DONE Blinded assessment: DONE
	Overall protection against bias: HIGH

Browner 1994 (Continued)

Participants	197 doctors in 174 practices conducting screening for high serum cholesterol Behaviour complexity: HIGH Country: USA			
Interventions	Didactic: 'seminar' (lec	Didactic: 'seminar' (lecture) held for 3 hours		
Outcomes	cholesterol screening at Baseline compliance: L	cholesterol screening and compliance with guidelines measured up to 18 months post-intervention Baseline compliance: LOW		
Notes				
Risk of bias				
Item	Authors' judgement	Description		
Allocation concealment?	Yes	A - Adequate		
Clark 1998				
Methods	RCT Randomisation concealment: NOT CLEAR Follow-up providers: DONE Blinded assessment: NOT CLEAR Overall protection against bias: MODERATE			
Participants	74 general paediatricians in community-based practices providing care for asthmatic children Behaviour complexity: HIGH Country: USA			
Interventions	Workshop: two 2.5 hour seminars, 2 to 3 weeks apart, interactive video, small group			
Outcomes	care for children with asthma			

	health care outcomes outcomes measured up to 22 months post-intervention Baseline compliance: LOW-MODERATE		
Notes			
Risk of bias			
Item	Authors' judgement	Description	
Allocation concealment?	Unclear	B - Unclear	

Dietrich 1992

Methods	RCT Randomisation concealment: NOT CLEAR Follow-up providers: DONE Blinded assessment: NOT CLEAR Overall protection against bias: MODERATE		
Participants	98 doctors in 98 practices providing cancer screening for 2595 patients. Services: mammograms, clinical breast examinations, breast self- examination, cervical cytology, foetal occult blood, rectal examination, sigmoidoscopy, advice: reduce fat, increase fibre, quit smoking Behaviour complexity: MODERATE Country: USA		
Interventions	Workshop: small group tutorial including discussion held for 2 days		
Outcomes	10 cancer screening behaviours measured 12-14 months post-intervention Baseline compliance: MODERATE (20%-79%)		
Notes			
Risk of bias			
Item	Authors' judgement	Description	
Allocation concealment?	Unclear	B - Unclear	

Dolan 1997

Methods	RCT Randomisation concealment: DONE (random numbers table) Follow-up providers: NOT DONE Blinded assessment: NOT CLEAR Overall protection against bias: MODERATE
Participants	82 general internal medicine house staff and attending physicians providing screening for skin cancer for 195 patients classified as moderate-to-high risk Behaviour complexity: LOW Country: USA
Interventions	Didactic: Two 1-hour small group sessions (coded by the reviewers as didactic based on the authors' description of the intervention)
Outcomes	four skin screening activities Baseline compliance: LOW-MODERATE
Notes	

Dolan 1997 (Continued)

Risk of bias Item Authors' judgement Description Allocation concealment? Yes A - Adequate

Hadiyono 1996

Methods	RCT Randomisation concealment: NOT CLEAR Follow-up providers: NOT CLEAR Blinded assessment: DONE Overall protection against bias: MODERATE		
Participants	24 health care centres in central Java providing care for out-patients Behaviour complexity: LOW Country: Indonesia		
Interventions	Workshop: group discussion with patients and health professionals held for 1.5-2 hours		
Outcomes	use of injections measured 3 months post-intervention Baseline compliance: LOW		
Notes			
Risk of bias			
Item	Authors' judgement	Description	
Allocation concealment?	Unclear	B - Unclear	

Heale 1988

Methods	RCT Randomisation concealment: NOT CLEAR Follow-up providers: NOT DONE Blinded assessment: NOT CLEAR Overall protection against bias: MODERATE
Participants	46 family doctors, providing care for patients with one of 6 common problems Topics: transient ischaemic attacks, hypertension, pre-menstrual syndrome, chlamydial infections, de- mentia, prescribing Behaviour complexity: MODERATE/HIGH Country: CANADA

Heale 1988 (Continued)		
Interventions	Workshop: large group	problem based vs. small group problem based vs. lecture
Outcomes	care for patients with a Baseline compliance: N	ny of 5 common problems seen in family practice NOT CLEAR
Notes		
Risk of bias		
Item	Authors' judgement	Description
Allocation concealment?	Unclear	B - Unclear

Jennett 1988

Methods	RCT Randomisation concealment: NOT CLEAR Follow-up providers: DONE Blinded assessment: DONE Overall protection against bias: HIGH		
Participants	31 family doctors in 25 practices providing care for 2077 episodes of patients with risk of colorectal or prostatic cancer or with hypertension Behaviour complexity: LOW for both groups Country: CANADA		
Interventions	Workshop: 1.5 hour small group meeting + 2 teleconferences + EM held over 6-8 weeks		
Outcomes	cancer screening and hypertension management outcomes measured at 6 and 12 months post-intervention Baseline compliance cancer screening: LOW (control); MODERATE (intervention); Hypertension: LOW		
Notes			
Risk of bias			
Item	Authors' judgement	Description	
Allocation concealment?	Unclear	B - Unclear	

Jones 1998

Methods	RCT Randomisation concealment: NOT CLEAR Follow-up providers: DONE Blinded assessment: NOT CLEAR Overall protection against bias: MODERATE		
Participants	59 nurses and health care assistants from five wards in two teaching hospitals providing care for patients post-stroke Behaviour complexity: High Country: UNITED KINGDOM		
Interventions	Mixed: Two 2-hour lec	tures (second lecture was primarily a practical session and included feedback) +EM	
Outcomes	patient positioning to 1 Baseline compliance: N	reduce spasticity measured up to 3 months post-intervention MODERATE	
Notes			
Risk of bias			
Item	Authors' judgement	Description	
Allocation concealment?	Unclear	B - Unclear	

Kimberlin 1993

Methods	RCT Randomisation concealment: NOT CLEAR Follow-up providers: NOT CLEAR Blinded assessment: NOT CLEAR Overall protection against bias: MODERATE
Participants	194 community-based pharmacists providing prescriptions for 762 elderly patients Behaviour complexity: MODERATE Country: USA
Interventions	Workshop: 1 day workshop (including small group discussion) + home study + EM
Outcomes	counselling about prescriptions (8 behaviours) measured at 1 and 3 months post-intervention Baseline compliance: NOT CLEAR
Notes	
Risk of bias	

Kimberlin 1993 (Continued)

Item	Authors' judgement	Description	
Allocation concealment?	Unclear	B - Unclear	
Kottke 1989			
Methods	RCT Randomisation concealment: NOT CLEAR Follow-up providers: NOT DONE Blinded assessment: DONE Overall protection against bias: MODERATE		
Participants	66 doctors general/family practices providing smoking cessation interventions for 6053 patients Behaviour complexity: MODERATE/HIGH Country: USA		
Interventions	Mixed: 3 hour sessions including didactic presentation and small group discussion + patient materials held twice		
Outcomes	smoking cessation counselling behaviours measured up to one month post-intervention: number of patients who continued to smoke at 1 year Baseline compliance: NOT CLEAR		
Notes			
Risk of bias			
Item	Authors' judgement	Description	
Allocation concealment?	Unclear	B - Unclear	
Levinson 1993			
Methods	RCT Randomisation concealment: NOT CLEAR Follow-up providers: DONE Blinded assessment: DONE Overall protection against bias: HIGH		
Participants	31 general internists, family doctors in practices encouraged to improve communications skills for 473		

patients Behaviour complexity: MODERATE Country: USA

Levinson 1993 (Continued)			
Interventions	Mixed: 4.5 hour didactic presentation + case based discussion		
Outcomes	communication skills with patients in primary care measured 1 month post-intervention Baseline compliance: NOT CLEAR		
Notes			
Risk of bias			
Item	Authors' judgement	Description	
Allocation concealment?	Unclear	B - Unclear	

Maiman 1988

Methods	RCT Randomisation concea Follow-up providers: I Blinded assessment: D Overall protection aga	lment: NOT CLEAR DONE ONE inst bias: HIGH	
Participants	83 paediatricians in practices, encouraged to provide medication compliance strategies to patients with otitis media Behaviour complexity: MODERATE/HIGH Country: USA		
Interventions	Mixed: 2.5 hour tutorial (didactic and discussion) + EM held twice		
Outcomes	compliance-enhancing strategies patients with no missed doses outcomes measured up to 6 months post-intervention Baseline compliance: NOT CLEAR		
Notes			
Risk of bias			
Item	Authors' judgement	Description	
Allocation concealment?	Unclear	B - Unclear	

Mazzuca 1987

Methods	RCT Randomisation concealment: NOT CLEAR Follow-up providers: DONE Blinded assessment: DONE Overall protection against bias: HIGH		
Participants	29 public health nurses in seven older-adult clinics providing care for patients with arthritis Behaviour complexity: MODERATE Country: USA		
Interventions	Mixed: One 3-hour lecture and one practical session +EM		
Outcomes	arthritis screening/management activities measured up to 6 months post-intervention Baseline compliance: NOT CLEAR		
Notes			
Risk of bias			
Item	Authors' judgement	Description	
Allocation concealment?	Unclear	B - Unclear	

Messmer 1998

Methods	NEGD Randomisation concealment: NOT DONE Follow-up providers: DONE Blinded assessment: NOT CLEAR Overall protection against bias: MODERATE
Participants	50 nurses in a medical centre providing care for patients with tuberculosis Behaviour complexity: LOW Country: USA
Interventions	Mixed: Series of videotapes followed by group discussion + EM
Outcomes	infection control practices measured 1 week post-intervention Baseline compliance: NOT CLEAR
Notes	
Risk of bias	

Messmer 1998 (Continued)

Item	Authors' judgement	Description	
Allocation concealment?	Unclear	D - Not used	
Ockene 1996			
Methods	RCT Randomisation concea Follow-up providers: I Blinded assessment: N Overall protection aga	lment: NOT CLEAR DONE OT CLEAR inst bias: MODERATE	
Participants	45 internists in a managed care setting, providing nutrition counselling in hyperlipidemia Behaviour complexity: HIGH Country: USA		
Interventions	Mixed: 2.5 hours mixed session (role play, didactic) + patient dietary form, followed by .5 hour individ- ualised tutorial		
Outcomes	cholesterol screening/management activities measured up to 24 months post-intervention Baseline Compliance: NOT CLEAR		
Notes			
Risk of bias			
Item	Authors' judgement	Description	
Allocation concealment?	Unclear	B - Unclear	
Parker 1995			
Methods	RCT Randomisation concealment: NOT CLEAR Follow-up providers: NOT CLEAR Blinded assessment: NOT CLEAR Overall protection against bias: MODERATE		
Participants	35 registered nurses (RNs) and licensed practical nurses (LPNs) in 2 long-term care facilities with a minimum of 20 residents with diabetes Behaviour complexity: LOW Country: USA		

Parker 1995 (Continued)

Interventions	Didactic: Seven 20-minute sessions each 2 weeks apart over a 12 week period (lecture with slides followed by question-and-answer period)		
Outcomes	care for patients with diabetes (5 variables) Baseline compliance: LOW for 4/5 variables		
Notes			
Risk of bias			
Item	Authors' judgement	Description	
Allocation concealment?	Unclear	B - Unclear	
Pekarik 1994			
Methods	RCT Randomisation concealment: NOT CLEAR Follow-up providers: NOT CLEAR Blinded assessment: DONE Overall protection against bias: MODERATE		
Participants	22 therapists in 3 out-patient clinics providing therapy to 247 clients Behaviour complexity: MODERATE/HIGH Country: USA		
Interventions	Mixed: 1 day workshop (didactic presentation, skills training, case review, 'homework' (taped session with actual patient)) follow-up: 1.5 hours held once		
Outcomes	group counselling skills patient satisfaction outcomes measured at 10 weeks and 5 months post-intervention Baseline compliance: NOT CLEAR		

Notes		
Risk of bias		
Item	Authors' judgement	Description
Allocation concealment?	Unclear	B - Unclear

Perera 1983

Methods	RCT Randomisation concealment: NOT CLEAR Follow-up providers: DONE Blinded assessment: NOT CLEAR Overall protection against bias: MODERATE	
Participants	26 doctors from 1 prepaid HMO, providing sigmoidoscopy to patients>40 years Behaviour complexity: HIGH Country: USA	
Interventions	Mixed: ½ day preceptorship + didactic review + discussion held twice	
Outcomes	rate of sigmoidoscopies per 1000 patients (40 years and older) Baseline compliance: NOT CLEAR (baseline rate was 9.8 and 6.2 sigmoidoscopies per panel size per 1000 patients 40 years and older)	
Notes		
Risk of bias		
Item	Authors' judgement	Description
Allocation concealment?	Unclear	B - Unclear

Roter 1995

Methods	RCT Randomisation concealment: NOT CLEAR Follow-up providers: NOT DONE Blinded assessment: DONE Overall protection against bias: MODERATE
Participants	88 general internists, family doctors in practices encouraged to improve communications skills for 648 patients Behaviour complexity: HIGH Country: USA
Interventions	Mixed: 4 hour sessions including didactic presentation and interactive discussion + EM + practice with simulated patient + homework + role-play held twice
Outcomes	communication skills to address emotional distress patient distress score at 6 months Baseline compliance: NOT CLEAR
Notes	

Roter 1995 (Continued)

Risk of bias			
Item	Authors' judgement	Description	
Allocation concealment?	Unclear	B - Unclear	
Smith 1995a			
Methods	RCT Randomisation concealment: NOT CLEAR Follow-up providers: DONE Blinded assessment: NOT CLEAR Overall protection against bias: MODERATE		
Participants	35 obstetricians & midwives providing information to pregnant women about a screening test Behaviour complexity: MODERATE Country: UNITED KINGDOM		
Interventions	Workshop: small group discussion and video + EM (1 hour)		
Outcomes	communication skills with women about prenatal screening outcomes measured immediately and 3 months post-intervention Baseline compliance: LOW		
Notes			
Risk of bias			
Item	Authors' judgement	Authors' judgement Description	
Allocation concealment?	Unclear	B - Unclear	
Strecher 1991			
Methods	RCT Randomisation concea Follow-up providers: I	lment: NOT CLEAR	

	Blinded assessment: NOT CLEAR Overall protection against bias: MODERATE
Participants	261 residents in 11 primary care training programmes providing smoking counselling Behaviour complexity: HIGH Country: USA

Strecher 1991 (Continued)

Interventions	Mixed: 1 hour tutorial including 10 minute lecture, 20 minute group discussion + 1 hour small group or individual follow-up		
Outcomes	smoking counselling patient 6 month quit rate Baseline compliance: NOT CLEAR		
Notes			
Risk of bias			
Item	Authors' judgement	Description	
Allocation concealment?	Unclear	B - Unclear	
Sulmasy 1992a			
Methods	RCT Randomisation concealment: NOT CLEAR Follow-up providers: NOT CLEAR Blinded assessment: NOT DONE Overall protection against bias: MODERATE		
Participants	83 internal medicine residents and doctors providing care for 96 patients with 'do not resuscitate orders' Behaviour complexity: HIGH		
Interventions	Didactic: 6 lectures (brief intervention)		
Outcomes	care for patients with 'do not resuscitate' orders Baseline compliance: LOW		
Notes			
Risk of bias			
Item	Authors' judgement	Description	
Allocation concealment?	Unclear	B - Unclear	

Sulmasy 1992b

RCT Randomisation concealment: NOT CLEAR Follow-up providers: NOT CLEAR Blinded assessment: NOT DONE Overall protection against bias: MODERATE	
83 internal medicine re Behaviour complexity:	esidents and doctors providing care for 96 patients with 'do not resuscitate' orders HIGH
Mixed: 6 lectures +6 ca	ase conferences +rounds +EM over 6 months (extensive)
care for patients with 'c Baseline compliance: N	do not resuscitate' orders measured 2 to 3 months post-intervention MODERATE/ HIGH
Authors' judgement	Description
Unclear	B - Unclear
RCT Randomisation concealment: NOT CLEAR Follow-up providers: NOT DONE Blinded assessment: NOT CLEAR Overall protection against bias: MODERATE	
Approximately 88 internal medicine residents in a medical centre providing care for out-patients Behaviour complexity: HIGH Country: USA	
Mixed: One ½-hour lecture, videotape, practice, and feedback	
advance directives recorded in charts advance care planning recorded in charts outcomes measured 18 months post-intervention Baseline compliance: LOW	
	RCT Randomisation concea Follow-up providers: N Blinded assessment: N Overall protection agai 83 internal medicine re Behaviour complexity: Mixed: 6 lectures +6 ca care for patients with 'd Baseline compliance: N Unclear RCT Randomisation concea Follow-up providers: N Blinded assessment: N Overall protection agai Approximately 88 inte Behaviour complexity: Country: USA Mixed: One ½-hour le advance directives reco advance care planning outcomes measured 18 Baseline compliance: I

Risk of bias

Sulmasy 1996 (Continued)

Item	Authors' judgement	Description	
Allocation concealment?	Unclear	B - Unclear	
Ward 1996			
Methods	RCT Randomisation concea Follow-up providers: I Blinded assessment: N Overall protection aga	RCT Randomisation concealment: DONE (random numbers table) Follow-up providers: DONE Blinded assessment: NOT CLEAR Overall protection against bias: MODERATE	
Participants	34 general practice trainees providing preventive care for 1500 patients Behaviour complexity: LOW Country: AUSTRALIA		
Interventions	Mixed: 3 day workshop (didactic presentation, small group skill practice, role-play)		
Outcomes	number of patients asked about smoking status number of patients asked about need for cervical smears Baseline compliance: LOW		
Notes			
Risk of bias			
Item	Authors' judgement	Description	
Allocation concealment?	Yes	A - Adequate	
Westphal 1995			
Methods	RCT Randomisation concealment: NOT CLEAR Follow-up providers: DONE Blinded assessment: NOT CLEAR Overall protection against bias: MODERATE		
Participants	health professionals in 8 hospitals providing advice about breast feeding Behaviour complexity: HIGH Country: BRAZIL		
Interventions	Mixed: full-time for 18 days over 3 weeks		

Westphal 1995 (Continued)

Outcomes	breast-feeding practices in hospitals Baseline compliance: LOW	
Notes		
Risk of bias		
Item	Authors' judgement	Description
Allocation concealment?	Unclear	B - Unclear
White 1985		
Methods	RCT Randomisation concealment: NOT CLEAR Follow-up providers: NOT CLEAR Blinded assessment: DONE Overall protection against bias: MODERATE	
Participants	103 family doctors or general internists in 12 communities caring for in-patients post myocardial infarction Behaviour complexity: MODERATE Country: USA	
Interventions	Mixed: 2 hour workshop + discussion + EM	
Outcomes	care for patients with acute myocardial infarction measured 6 months post-intervention Baseline compliance: MODERATE	
Notes		
Risk of bias		
Item	Authors' judgement	Description
Allocation concealment?	Unclear	B - Unclear

Wilson 1992

Methods	RCT Randomisation concealment: DONE (computer generated) Follow-up providers: DONE Blinded assessment: NOT CLEAR Overall protection against bias: MODERATE	
Participants	22 family doctors providing exercise counselling for 410 patients Behaviour complexity: LOW Country: CANADA	
Interventions	Mixed: 2 hour workshop (discussion, practical teaching with videotaped patients) + patient materials	
Outcomes	provision of exercise advice measured up to 6 weeks post-intervention Baseline compliance: LOW	
Notes		
Risk of bias		
Item	Authors' judgement	Description
Allocation concealment?	Yes	A - Adequate

Wirtschafter 1986

Methods	RCT Randomisation concealment: NOT CLEAR (stratified on factors associated with neonatal mortality) Follow-up providers: DONE Blinded assessment: NOT CLEAR Overall protection against bias: MODERATE
Participants	172 doctors and 239 nurses in 40 hospitals caring for new-borns in a neonatal intensive care unit Behaviour complexity: LOW-MODERATE Country: USA
Interventions	Didactic: 1.5 hour lecture + case discussion + EM held twice 6-8 months apart
Outcomes	care provided for neonates neonatal mortality outcomes measured up to 1 year post-intervention Baseline compliance: NOT CLEAR

Wirtschafter 1986 (Continued)

Notes			
Risk of bias			
Item	Authors' judgement	Description	
Allocation concealment?	Unclear	B - Unclear	
Wood 1989			
Methods	NEGD Randomisation concealment: NOT DONE Follow-up providers: DONE Blinded assessment: DONE Overall protection against bias: MODERATE		
Participants	13 paediatric residents in 1 out-patient department providing management over the telephone Behaviour complexity: MODERATE Country: USA		
Interventions	Workshop: 1/2 hour sessions with role-play and discussion held 3 times		
Outcomes	telephone communication skills with parents (3 variables) measured 3 months post-intervention Baseline compliance: MODERATE-HIGH		
Notes			
Risk of bias			
Item	Authors' judgement	Description	
Allocation concealment?	Unclear	D - Not used	

Characteristics of excluded studies [ordered by study ID]

Camp-Sorrell 1991	Control group received education
Campbell 1991	Outcomes were not measured in a clinical situation
Carlsson 1998	Outcomes were not measured in a clinical situation

(Continued)

Davidoff 1989	Control group received education
Dunn 1992	Outcomes were not measured in a clinical situation
Francke 1997	Outcomes were based on self-report
Langewitz 1998	Outcomes were not measured in a clinical situation
Ockene 1995	Outcomes were not measured in a clinical situation
Quirk 1991	Outcomes were not measured in a clinical situation
Roter 1990	Outcomes were not measured in a clinical situation
Saturno 1995	Outcomes were based on self-report
Stross 1983	Outcomes were not measured in a clinical situation
Terry 1981	Outcomes were not measured in a clinical situation
Zwar 1995	Outcomes were based on self-report

DATA AND ANALYSES

This review has no analyses.

FEEDBACK

Discrepencies in characteristics of included studi

Summary

1. In table 03 (overall results), the study by Hadiyono is entered as 'Hadiyono 1996 USA'; whereas in the table (characteristics of included studies) it is described as a study conducted in Indonsesia.

2. The text of the review (description of studies)states that '24 studies were based in North America, two in UK, and one each in Australia, Brazil, France, Indonesia and Sri Lanka'. However, in the table(characteristics of studies), the studies by Heale (1988), Jennett (1988), and Wilson (1992) are described as being conducted in Canada. Unless there is a reason for these studies to be classified as North American studies, it would be useful (for the reader) to distinguish between studies conducted in Canada and those in the USA. I certify that I have no affiliations with or involvement in any organisation or entity with a direct financial interest in the subject matter of my criticisms.

Contributors

Helen Smith, Research Associate, Liverpool School of Tropical Medicine

WHAT'S NEW

Last assessed as up-to-date: 8 November 2000.

12 November 2008 Amended Converted to new review format. Minor edits.

HISTORY

Review first published: Issue 2, 2001

9 November 2000 New citation required and conclusions have changed Substantive amendment

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

MAO and NF applied the inclusion criteria, assessed the quality and

extracted the data for the included studies. ADO, JH, and MAO conducted the qualitative analysis. NF and FW conducted the quantitative analysis. MAO drafted the manuscript with input from ADO and NF. JH,FW and DAD provided comments on the manuscript.

Acknowledgements: ATV and CF conducted the literature searches.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

None known.

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Internal sources

- Hamilton Health Sciences Corporation, Canada.
- McMaster University, Canada.
- National Institute of Public Health, Norway.
- University of Toronto, Canada.
- University of York, UK.
- Health Services Research Unit, University of Aberdeen, UK.

External sources

- Alliance for Continuing Medical Education, USA.
- Chief Scientist Office, Scottish Office Home & Health Department, UK.
- Health Evidence Linkage & Application Network, Industry Canada, Canada.
- Society of Medical College Directors of Continuing Medical Education, USA.
- Health Services Research Unit, University of Aberdeen, UK.

INDEX TERMS

Medical Subject Headings (MeSH)

*Congresses as Topic; Education, Continuing [methods; *standards]; *Process Assessment (Health Care); Professional Practice [*standards]; Randomized Controlled Trials as Topic

MeSH check words

Humans